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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Mr A Burrows & Mr G J B Bevan

	Scheme
	:
	Pre-Met Electrical Components Limited Retirement Benefit Scheme

	Trustees
	:
	The Trustees of the Pre-Met Electrical Components Limited Retirement Benefits Scheme 

	Employer
	:
	Pre-Met Electrical Components Limited (Pre-Met)

	Administrator
	:
	Mercer Human Resources Consulting Limited (Mercers)


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION

1. Mr Burrows and Mr Bevan allege that the Trustees failed to exercise a fiduciary duty to protect the Scheme’s assets during winding up, in particular that:
1.1. despite being advised to discuss the Scheme’s investment strategy and that changes might be appropriate prior to the coming into effect of Pre-Met’s stated intention to cease making contributions to the scheme, the first meeting to discuss this was not until 31 January 2001 and the funds were not transferred until January 2002.

1.2. the Trustees failed to report to the Pensions Regulator when Pre-Met appeared to be trying to distance itself from a debt in respect of the Scheme

2. Mr Burrows and Mr Bevan further complain that those Trustees who were also directors of Pre-Met (or other companies within the group) did not act solely in the best interests of the Scheme members.

3. Mr Burrows and Mr Bevan complain that Mercers failed to safeguard the Scheme’s assets and did not act with due diligence when instructed by the Trustees to transfer the Scheme’s assets from equities into gilts.

4. Mr Burrows complains that Pre-Met attempted to avoid meeting its financial obligations to the Scheme. He suggests that Pre-Met should be required to meet the Scheme’s funding deficit.

5. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of facts or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

BACKGROUND
6. Pre-Met notified the Trustees on 18 July 2000 that it intended to cease contributions to the Scheme on 31 October 2000.

7. The Scheme commenced winding-up on 31 January 2001.

8. Mercers were replaced by Checkley Fisher on 30 October 2002 so far as concerns the provision of actuarial and investment advice
 but were retained to provide administration services.

9. On 1 February 2005, the Trustees lodged a claim for £2.08 million with Pre-Met. The directors placed the Company in administration on 28 February 2005. The Administrator, Kingston Smith, sold the assets and goodwill of the Company to Lewis Spring Products Limited on 1 March 2005. All Pre-Met employees were transferred to Lewis Spring Products Limited. That company then changed its name to Pre-Met Ltd. References in this determination to Pre-Met apply only to the original company.

10. Osborne Clarke Pension Trustees Limited (Osborne Clarke) was appointed as statutory independent trustee on 12 May 2005.

Trust Deeds and Rules
11. Originally the Scheme was known as the Plasmec Retirement Benefits Scheme. The  1st definitive deed was dated 18 July 1983, a 2nd definitive deed was executed on 11 August 1988 and there were amending deeds dated 10 July 1992, 12 June 1995, 1 June 1998 and 28 July 2000. 

12. Pre-Met was appointed Principal Employer by the amending deed dated 1 June 1998. The Scheme was re-named by the amending deed dated 28 July 2000. The Trustees were then listed as:

Cyril Renham (pensioner) (Chairman of the Trustees)

Michael Robin Osbourne (pensioner)

Pauline Mary Duke (deferred member)

Eric Frederick Johnson
13. The amending deed gave effect to provisions in the Pensions Act 1995 for the election of member-nominated trustees, under Sections 16 and 17, the appointment of professional advisers, under Section 47, the preparation of a statement of investment principles, under Section 35, etc.
14. In the Annual Report for 2002, the Trustees were listed as:

C Renham (pensioner) (resigned 12 January 2003)

M Osbourne (pensioner) (MNT)

P Duke (deferred member)

E Johnson (resigned 28 October 2002)

S Haynes (appointed 28 October 2002) (Director)

R Atkins (deferred member) (appointed 6 March 2003) (MNT)

15. Relevant extracts from the Trust Deeds and Rules can be found in Appendix 1.

PROTECTING THE SCHEME’S ASSETS

16. The Trustees met on 19 July 2000 and received notice from Pre-Met that all contributions to the Scheme would cease on 31 October 2000. The meeting was attended by representatives of Pre-Met’s parent company, Perma Industries Limited (represented by the Finance Director, Mr Miles) and Mercers (represented by Mr Judson).

17. The minutes of the meeting record that the Trustees had noted the need for professional guidance following receipt of the notice. Mercers stated that (inter alia) the Trustees would need advice on the Scheme’s investment strategy. The Trustees noted that it was unlikely that there would be sufficient assets to secure full entitlement for all members on winding up. The Trustees were handed a schedule of work for winding up the Scheme, which included:

“Discuss with Mercer Investment Consulting and obtain for the Trustees guidance regarding possible changes to the investment strategy. It was NOTED that any changes may be appropriate prior to the expiry of the Principal Employer’s Notice period.”

18. The minutes concluded:

“It was AGREED that a further meeting should be held as soon as practical, ie. as soon as the actuarial and investment guidance becomes available. At the next meeting, further consideration would be given to obtaining legal guidance and/or putting the Scheme into wind-up.”

19. The Trustees next met on 16 November 2000. The minutes noted that Mercers advised that the Trustees needed to take action under Clause 20 (see Appendix 1, paragraph 2). Mercers were asked to write to the Trustees’ legal advisers (Baker & McKenzie) concerning the debt due from the employer and the desirability of asking Pre-Met to support the Scheme to the extent of ensuring that 100% transfer values could be paid.

20. The Trustees’ next meeting was held on 31 January 2001. Under the heading ‘Investment’, the minutes stated:

“Arising from the Minutes of the last meeting was the question of the suitability of investment strategy following the cessation of contributions. Mr I Burton of Mercer Investment Consulting [MIC] joined the meeting.

Mr Burton began by discussing the general responsibilities of the Trustees regarding investment, with particular reference to MFR liabilities.

Any change in strategy would need to be reflected in a new Statement of Investment Principles (SIP).

The least risk option for the investment of Scheme assets would be a Gilts based investment.

If the existing strategy is continued, there would be a mismatch between the Scheme liabilities and the investment strategy.

After due consideration, the most appropriate strategy … was Gilts, with (possibly) some cash …”

21. The minutes of the meeting record:

“…

The cost of changing from the present strategy to a Gilts matching policy would, on a worse scenario basis, be in the region of 0.8% of the Equity Fund.

To effect a change:

1. The Scheme Actuary needs to calculate the Gilt matching MFR position.

2. The split of Gilts/Index Linked, etc. needs to be agreed.

3. The Trustees need to determine whether or not Index Tracking (Passive) management should continue.

4. The Trustees need to instruct [MIC] to implement the change agreed.

5. A new SIP needs to be prepared …

6. Copy of the SIP to be given to the Principal Employer …

It was AGREED that MIC would liaise with the Scheme Actuary and then write to the Trustees.”

22. Mr Judson sent a leaflet (‘The Investment Services We Provide and How We Operate’) to the Trustees on 5 June 2001, together with a ‘Buyer’s Guide’. The Trustees signed to say they had received these documents. The leaflet stated:

“… As independent investment advisers, we provide a range of services which includes giving advice about, and effecting life assurance contracts; advising on the appropriateness of investments against liabilities; performance measurement; manager selection; general investment strategy; asset allocation; stock selection …

… this leaflet sets out the basis upon which we will provide investment services upon receipt of your instructions … Unless otherwise agreed, Mercer will provide investment services only upon request and accordingly will not be responsible for keeping your investments under review.”

and

“Any advice and recommendations we give you will normally be in writing. Similarly if you wish to instruct us to buy or sell investments on your behalf we require written confirmation. However, where it is appropriate we will give you advice over the telephone and may at our discretion accept telephone instructions. Your instructions will be acknowledged in writing as soon as practicable and we will let you know when these have been carried out …”

23. Mr Judson then wrote to the Trustees on 2 July 2001:

“We have recently been asked to provide copies of Trustees’ Minutes for the Auditors for the finalisation of the Scheme Annual Report to 31 December 2000 and it seems that the 31 January 2001 draft Minutes have not been sent to you for consideration. Please accept my apologies …

… the Net Asset Statement is with the Auditors. They will not, however, sign it off until they have finalised the Scheme Annual Report. The Scheme Actuary will provide the information as soon as possible.

I have also been in touch with [MIC] about the possible change of investment. I am hoping that recommendations to the Trustees will be available shortly …”

24. On 15 August 2001, Pre-Met wrote to Mr Judson requesting information on behalf of their auditors; the requested information was listed as the valuation of the Scheme, the Employer’s liability and the accounts.

25. Mr Judson wrote to the Trustees again on 21 August 2001:

“This letter is addressed to the Trustees of the [Scheme]. It concerns the vital importance of reviewing the investment strategy in the light of the winding-up of the Scheme, and keeping the investment strategy under review throughout the remaining period of operation of the Scheme.

… your investment strategy … has involved significant investment in UK and overseas Equities. Over most past periods of 5 years or more, these investments have produced higher returns than investments that are not related to the Equity markets, and this in turn has tended to reduce the ongoing cost of the Scheme. However, there have been periods – including some over 5 years – when Equities have not been the best performing sector.

The higher returns can be regarded as a reward for the risks …

As the Trustees have agreed to wind-up the Scheme, this situation has now changed. The Company is not likely to be willing to continue underwriting the risk of investing in Equities.

Given that the Scheme could soon start to run down towards complete winding-up, the Trustees’ main focus is likely to be on ensuring that the investment policy minimises the risk of members’ benefits being reduced/not being paid in full. Generally, this would involve significantly more investment in UK Government Fixed-Interest and Index-Linked securities and possibly corporate bonds.

The investment decisions to be made are, therefore, significant and I have already recommended that the Trustees seek specific investment advice on how to manage the necessary changes. My colleague … (who specialises in investment consulting) is currently assisting the Trustees in this process, working alongside me and the Scheme Actuary.

It is very important that the Trustees keep the investment strategy under review at every stage in the process of winding-up of the Scheme … Any delay in seeking investment advice and implementing recommended change could result in members’ benefits being adversely affected. Lack of action by the Trustees might, therefore, be questioned and scrutinised by members, the Company and regulatory bodies.

I look forward to discussing these issues with you as we go forward.”

26. Mr Judson responded to Pre-Met’s earlier letter on 28 August 2001. He enclosed a copy of the most recent Scheme Annual Report. Mr Judson said that he was not sure what the auditors required. He explained that the last actuarial valuation had been completed in 1997 and that the next valuation had not yet been completed. Mr Judson explained that, in order to meet the statutory requirements, the valuation had to be completed by 31 December 2001 and that the Trustees would notify the company when the results were available. He also explained that the debt on the employer was still being assessed and that the Trustees would notify the company once the figures were available.
27. On 12 December 2001, Mr Judson sent Mrs Duke an updated copy of Mercers Terms of Business and explained that, with effect from 1 December 2001, Mercers were regulated by the Financial Services Authority instead of the Investment Management Regulatory Authority. He explained that, unlike on previous occasions, the Trustees did not have to sign and return his letter. The ‘Terms of Business for the provision of investment services’ stated:

“Mercer acts as consultants and actuaries to trustee clients and employers. As independent investment advisers, we provide a range of services which include: advising on the appropriateness of investments against liabilities; performance measurement; manager selection; general investment strategy; asset allocation; selection of investments; effecting certain types of insurance contracts; advice relating to the provision of employee benefits overseas or to the employment of expatriates in the UK or elsewhere.

Mercer is regulated by the Financial Services Authority (FSA) … Unless otherwise agreed, Mercer will provide investment services only upon request and accordingly will not be responsible for keeping your investments under review …
The Form of Our Advice and Your Instructions

Any advice and recommendations we give you will be confirmed in writing. Similarly if you wish to instruct us to buy or sell investments on your behalf we require written confirmation. Your instructions will be acknowledged in writing as soon as practicable and we will let you know when these have been carried out.

To enable us to provide you with a proper service, we need to be able to contact you from time to time. We will work on the basis that we have your express invitation and authority to do this …”

28. On 4 January 2002, Mr Burton of (Mercer Investment Consulting (MIC)) wrote to the Trustees:

“We have now received information from the Scheme Actuary and this letter provides advice on what might be a suitable investment strategy for the Scheme …

…

I understand the Trustees’ objective is to minimise the volatility of the funding level. To achieve this the Trustees should consider a gilts matching policy …

The Scheme Actuary has estimated a very broad allocation consisting of …

It is preferable to move to an ‘interim’ strategy now as the dealing costs for gilts are low …

Until such time as the Actuary is able to finalise the calculations we recommend … the following benchmark:

…

This benchmark is constructed to minimise as far as is practical the volatility of the gilts matching MFR …

Recommendation
The Trustees should consider moving to a gilts matching policy. This will provide the best match of assets and liabilities … We recommend an interim strategy of 90% fixed interest/10% gilts … This will allow the Trustees to consider corporate bonds.

… The Trustees need to complete the documentation and return it to L&G. The new benchmark will be implemented on receipt of this documentation.”

29. Mercers have submitted a note of a telephone call from Mr Renham to Mr Judson on 10 January 2002. This states:

“Cyril telephoned following receipt of the letter dated 4 January 2002 prepared by Investment Consulting (Ian Burton) and sent out by me on 9 January 2002.

Cyril explained that early action was necessary but that as the letter was self explanatory there was probably no need to have a Trustees Meeting. I explained that copies had gone out to all Trustees but that he had the originals of the documents which would need to be completed if the Trustees so agree.

He said that he would speak to each of the Trustees individually and if all were in agreement to accept the recommendations in the letter he would arrange for the paperwork to be completed as quickly as possible.”

30. The Trustees signed the forms on 10 January 2002 and returned them to Mr Burton on 15 January 2002. In his covering letter to Mrs Duke, Mr Renham said:

“This decision should have been dealt with ages ago but has been held up because of the delay in getting the Net Asset Statement produced …”

31. Mr Burton had to return one of the forms to the Trustees on 24 January 2002 because it had not been signed.

32. On 22 February 2002, Mr Judson sent a copy of the actuarial valuation report to Mr Miles and confirmed that the move to a gilts matching portfolio had been completed.

33. The Trustees met on 29 May 2002.  There had been no meetings of the Trustees between 31 January 2001 and 29 May 2002. The meeting was attended by Mr Renham, Mrs Duke, Mr Osborne, Mr Judson, the Scheme Actuary and Baker & McKenzie. The minutes of the meeting show that, in response to the question ‘Why did it take 1 year for the fund to transfer to Gilts?’, Mr Renham ‘reminded’ the Trustees,

“… that they had required a report from Mercer before acting as they did not know what to invest in to best meet the Scheme liabilities.”

34. The Trustees met with Baker & McKenzie on 22 August 2002 to discuss (inter alia) fixing the date of the debt on the employer (see below) and a claim against Mercers. The minutes of the meeting record that Baker & McKenzie advised that bringing a negligence action against Mercers would not be easy. The minutes record,

“[Baker & McKenzie] explained that in a claim for negligence:

(i) it would have to be established that Mercer owed a duty of care to the Company … might be able to trace this through the debt on the employer Regulations … was … a hurdle;

(ii) it would have to be established that the duty of care has been breached by reference to the standard of care of a reasonably competent actuarial and benefit consultancy …

(iii) it would have to be shown that Mercer had fallen so far short of the standard … that their omissions had directly caused the Scheme’s loss.

… appeared to be grounds on which Mercer might be criticised for acting slowly, it was agreed that the effects on the stock-market of 11 September 2001 were probably the main cause of loss in the value of the Scheme’s assets.

E Johnson queried whether the case against Mercer would be weakened on the grounds that the Trustees should have chased and followed up Mercer … a Court … would also consider whether the Trustees were under a duty to mitigate their loss. The problem in assessing mitigation in this case (or the absence of mitigation) was that the Trustees had at all times relied on professional advice and regardless of this the events of 11 September 2001 could not have been predicted …”

35. The Trustees agreed that suing Mercers, at that stage, was not appropriate and that they should leave the Company to pursue a complaint.

36. There were a number of Trustees’ meetings during October 2002. The minutes of the meeting held on  25 October 2002 stated:

“It was noted that the Trustees still feel that Mercer should bear some of the responsibility for the present dispute, which originally stems from the delay of Mercer’s actuarial and benefits teams in implementing the gilts-matching policy in 2001.

… it had been agreed that the Trustees would not pursue Mercer as this would not be a good use of the Trustees’ resources, given the under funding of the Scheme. It was further noted that the Company ultimately has an interest in pursuing Mercer.”

37. The Trustees considered taking action against Mercers again at their meeting on 6 March 2003. They were advised by Baker & McKenzie to assess the probability of winning against the potential costs to the Scheme. Estimates of the costs were quoted as in the region of £130,000 amounting to approximately 5% of the fund available to the deferred members.

38. At the Trustees’ meeting on 15 May 2003, Mr Haynes (on behalf of Pre-Met) stated that the Company would support action against Mercers but was not willing to fund it. The Trustees discussed the possibility of further action. At their meeting on 7 August 2003, the Trustees decided to request Checkley Fisher to prepare a letter to Mercers, with an updated calculation of the Scheme’s loss, to request a formal response to the Trustees’ claim. The Trustees decided that it would not be in the members’ best interests to fund formal litigation.

39. Mrs Duke (on behalf of the Trustees) wrote to Mercers on 1 October 2003:

“The Trustees resolved on 31 January 2001 to wind up the Scheme and in that Resolution the Scheme Actuary and the Scheme Administrators were authorised to take action as appropriate. [Mr Judson] was instrumental in getting the Resolution signed … therefore clearly understood at that time the necessity to take prompt action. During the period 31 January 2001 to 31 August 2001 [Mrs Dukes] chased [Mr Judson] three times regarding progress with the asset switch and she was told three times that it was in hand and there was no problem. Despite this Mercer were far too slow in dealing with the necessary steps to switch the assets into Gilts, with the result that it was not until 10 January 2002 that the Trustees were able to sign the necessary … form … Because of stock market movements … the Scheme was able to purchase far fewer … units … Three months is a reasonable time for Mercer to have made all the necessary arrangements to enable the switch to happen on 1 May 2001. If the switch had happened on 1 May 2001 an additional 443.926 … units plus an additional 49.063 … units could have been purchased. As at 7 August 2003 these would have had a value of £1.206.473. The Trustees therefore require immediate compensation for this amount …”

40. Following further negotiations between the Trustees and Mercers, a settlement was reached in June 2006. The Trustees were advised by an independent actuary (Punter Southall) that the delay in transferring the assets into gilts had caused a loss of £942,000 to the Scheme. The settlement provided for Mercers to pay £700,000 to the Trustees, together with £60,000 in respect of costs incurred (£70,500). Mr Bevan suggests that Pre-Met might have been able to continue trading if Mercers had reached a settlement with the Trustees before the statutory debt had been served.

Submissions
The Trustees
41. The minutes of January 2001 show that the Trustees had agreed that the change in investment strategy should be a switch from equities into gilts and that Mercers were to manage the process. The Trustees  rely on the following extracts from the minutes of that meeting,

“After due consideration, the most appropriate strategy based on information available and allowing for the eventual buying-out of benefits was Gilts …”

“… MIC would liaise with the Scheme Actuary and then write to the Trustees.”

42. It would not be true to say that there was no degree of urgency or that the Trustees  were more concerned with the cost of the switch. Mercer have drawn inappropriate inferences from the minutes.

43. Mercers’ duty to effect the transfer was not varied by the conduct of the Trustees.

44. The Trustees accept that point 4 in the January 2001 minutes required a formal instruction from them to make the switch (see paragraph 21). When this occurred would depend on how quickly points 1-3 in the January 2001 minutes were dealt with. The Scheme Actuary was responsible for point 1 and Mercers were responsible for ensuring that the Trustees addressed the other points.

45. They were lay trustees and could not be expected to deal with these points alone. They were entitled to rely on Mercers to ‘act appropriately on instructions in relation to a technical matter such as a transfer to gilts’.

46. Their lack of experience meant that they were not in a position to judge whether Mercers’ approach was standard market practice or negligent.

47. They were assured by Mercers that winding up the Scheme would be unproblematic, that Mercers would carry out the investment switch and that this action would protect the Scheme’s funding position.

48. Preparatory work for the investment switch should have taken three months at most. As a result of the delay, the net assets of the Scheme were seriously depleted. For example, the market value of the assets as at 31 January 2001 was £6,889,000 but by 31 December 2001 it had fallen to £5,909,000. The transfer to gilts should have been completed no later than 30 April 2001. The loss to the Scheme is the difference between the value of the gilts calculated on the basis that they had been acquired on 30 April 2001 compared with their value on the date they were actually acquired. 

49. Having failed to action the investment switch, Mercers then failed to revert to the Trustees following the events of September 2001 to ascertain whether they still wished to move out of equities.

50. One of the Trustees (Mrs Duke) recalls speaking to Mercers concerning progress of the switch.  She recalls being told by Mercers that the switch could take ‘up to a year’. The Trustees have submitted statements from Mrs Duke, Mr Renham and one of the Scheme members (see Appendix 2). 

51. Mercers’ letter of 21 August 2001 appears, with the benefit of hindsight, to be anomalous if the Trustees had already made the decision to move into gilts in January 2001. However, it confirmed their understanding at the time that Mercers were ‘assisting the Trustees in this process’. They suggest that the letter was written to give the impression that Mercers were progressing with the switch when they were not.

52. Mercers advice in January 2002 merely repeated their earlier advice in January 2001.

53. Mr Renham’s note of 10 January 2002 (see paragraph 29) is an indication that the Trustees felt that the switch should already have been actioned by Mercers. The responsibility for providing the information for the Net Asset Statement rested with Mercers. Mr Renham’s reference to ‘ages ago’ must mean whenever a reasonably competent firm of investment consultants would have provided the necessary information.

54. It is speculative to suggest that the Trustees  could have decided not to press for an immediate switch. They were not presented with the option of an expedited switch and, if they had been, they might have taken a view on the relative costs.

55. The delay in signing the documents in January 2002 was because they were not given clear instructions by Mercers.

56. They considered legal action against Mercers but decided it would not be appropriate to risk the benefits of the remaining deferred members by doing so.

57. They wish to rely on Clause 17 of the 2nd definitive deed (see paragraph 3 of Appendix 1). Alternatively, they wish to rely upon section 61 of the Trustee Act 1925.

Mercers
58. A change in investment strategy had been agreed in principle at the January 2001 meeting but not was not being pursued with any degree of urgency on the part of the Trustees, who were more concerned with the cost of any change.

59. Mercers approach was determined by the attitude adopted by the Trustees at the January 2001 meeting and subsequently. The timing of the switch was subject to instructions from the Trustees. The proposed transfer was to be made after consideration of the matters referred to at point 1 in the minutes. Point 4 in the minutes explicitly states that the instruction to transfer to gilts was to be given at a future date.

60. The Trustees did not instruct Mercers to switch the Scheme’s assets to gilts until after receiving Mercers’ report in January 2002.

61. There is no written evidence that the Trustees pressed for the switch. Mrs Duke asserts that she ‘chased’ Mercers in this but, if she was concerned, she should have put her concerns in writing. Mr Judson does not recall being chased. He does recall speaking to Mrs Duke from time to time but, since she had the role of providing data from the employer, he would have had reason to speak with her on matters not related to the winding up.

62. The Trustees would have known from the letter of 2 July 2001 (see paragraph 23) that the switch had not been completed and could not have believed that it was underway when they received the letter of 21 August 2001.

63. Mr Renham’s note included a statement to the effect that the decision to switch the investments had been held up by a delay in getting the Net Asset Statement produced. This suggests that, at that point, the delay in switching the investments was understood by the Trustees. There is no indication of what he meant by ‘ages ago’.

64. At the Trustees’ meeting on 29 May 2002, in response to a question concerning the delay, Mr Renham referred to the need to obtain a report from Mercers before acting. The Trustees were, at this time, considering setting a date for the debt on the employer. It is conceivable that they could have decided not to press for an immediate transfer into gilts.

65. If Mercers is deemed to have some liability for the failure to action an earlier switch, the Trustees must bear some contribution to any loss.

66. The Trustees knew that Mercers were waiting for up to date Scheme accounts before providing the necessary investment advice. There was ‘a measure of agreement’ that the report would not be provided until the matters listed in the January 2001 minutes had been dealt with.

67. If the Trustees were concerned by the delay, they were duty bound to discuss it with Baker & McKenzie or, at least, enquire if an interim transfer was possible. The Trustees ought reasonably to have understood from the meeting on 31 January 2001 that a transfer could have been effected immediately at a cost of 0.8% of the value. They would have known that the purpose of MIC’s report was to ensure the best matching of assets and liabilities to minimise cost on transfer.

68. As time passed, Mercers themselves became concerned about the delay and this prompted their letter of 21 August 2001. If the Trustees believed that the switch should already have occurred, why did they not respond to this letter? If the Trustees had responded, Mercers would either have effected an interim switch or expedited the report. Had a switch taken place in September or October 2001, the Scheme would not have suffered a loss.

69. Had the Trustees wanted to go ahead with the switch before the full report was available, it could have been effected within 5-6 weeks of the commencement of winding up.

70. Investment advice was provided on 4 January 2002 but it took another seven weeks to effect the switch. This was due to the Trustees failing to sign and return the appropriate forms. Mercers should not be liable for this delay.

71. Mercers have been unable to locate a copy of their original contract with the Trustees for the provision of administration services. They have pointed out that their association with the Scheme goes back a number of years and the client organisation has undergone a number of changes in that time. Mercers say that investment advice was provided on an ad hoc basis and the terms upon which they provided that service are set out in the letters sent to the Trustees in June 2001 (see paragraph 22) and December 2001 (see paragraph 27).

Mr Burrows
72. If responsibility for any delay in transferring the Scheme assets is shared between the Trustees and Mercers, they should be directed to pay compensation to the Scheme sufficient to bring the funding level up to the April 2000 position, i.e. 91% of the buy-out cost. The remaining 9% would be partly compensated for by the sum received from the Liquidator.
73. The subject was clearly discussed in the July 2000 meeting and the transfer should have been decided and commenced in October 2000.

74. Costs attributable to the resolution of the complaint should also be awarded to the Scheme.

75. Deferred members are likely to receive reduced benefits and compensation will be sought via the Financial Assistance Scheme. It is inappropriate that public funds should be used to provide compensation if the Trustees and Mercers are found to have mismanaged the Scheme’s assets.

Mr Bevan

76. The settlement between the Trustees and Mercers might have been a fair arrangement if it had been agreed shortly after the loss was first incurred. However, it took a further 4½ years, during which further losses to the Scheme were incurred. Mercers should be required to cover these additional losses incurred before they finally agreed to make a payment.

77. As the continually increasing pension debt led directly to the Company ceasing to trade, he should be compensated for his loss of earnings between 30 June 2005 and his 65th birthday.
THE DEBT ON THE EMPLOYER (the ‘debt’)

78. In May 2000, the Scheme Actuary advised Pre-Met’s parent company, Perma Industries Limited (Perma Industries), that the Scheme was 120% funded on the MFR basis as at December 1997 but that it was likely there were insufficient assets to cover the cost of buying out accrued benefits with an insurance company..

79. Mr Burrows argues that Pre-Met should, at this point, have made provisions to cover a possible shortfall in the Scheme’s funding. Solicitors acting for Pre-Met have pointed out that the figures quoted referred to the situation in 1997 and, in any event, indicated that the Scheme was in surplus on the MFR basis, i.e. the basis upon which a debt would be calculated.

80. The Trustees agreed to wind up the Scheme at their meeting on 31 January 2001. By resolution dated 31 January 2001, they decided to crystallise the debt on the same date. The resolution had been prepared by Mr Judson and sent to the Trustees’ home addresses for signature on 8 February 2001. The resolution stated:
“We, the Trustees of the [Scheme] HEREBY RESOLVE AND AGREE, using the powers under Clause 20(a)(iv) of the Definitive Deed dated 11 August 1988 (having previously deferred the wind-up of the Scheme under Clause 20(a)(i)) TO DETERMINE THE SCHEME with effect from 31 January 2001.

We, the Trustees, ALSO RESOLVE AND AGREE that the applicable time for the crystallisation of the Employers Debt on Winding-Up under Section 75 of the Pensions Act 1995 and the Occupational Pensions Schemes (Deficiency on Winding-Up) Regulations 1996 shall be the date of the determination of the Scheme.

The Scheme Actuary and the Scheme Administrators are hereby authorised and requested to take action as appropriate in accordance with the Resolution.”
81. On 2 July 2001, Mr Judson wrote to Pre-Met on behalf of the Trustees asking if Pre-Met would agree to pay all or part of the costs of the Trustees seeking professional advice. Mr Judson said that it was understood that some of the members would be offered the opportunity to join an alternative employer’s scheme. He asked if Pre-Met intended to pay any additional money into the Scheme to enhance the members’ transfer values.

82. Mr Judson wrote to Baker & McKenzie on 17 April 2002. He said that the Scheme Actuary was of the opinion that the Trustees should decide on a date for the debt which maximised the amount which could be claimed and that it was illogical for them to choose a date when it was likely that no debt arose. Mr Judson said that the Actuary had not had an opportunity to discuss the matter with the Trustees before the trustees took their decision. He asked Baker & McKenzie to advise whether the Trustees must adhere to the date set out in their January 2001 resolution. Baker & McKenzie subsequently advised that there were grounds for the Trustees to reconsider their resolution and that the Trustees could revoke it. Mr Judson forwarded this advice to the Trustees on 7 May 2002.

83. Mrs Duke recalls that the Trustees discussed the advice from Baker & McKenzie but cannot recall whether this was in a meeting or over the telephone. She has confirmed that she has no written record of the meeting/discussion but recalls that the Trustees decided to follow the advice of their professional advisers and asked Mercers to write to Pre-Met.

84. Mr Judson wrote to Pre-Met on 10 May 2002 saying that the Trustees had asked him to write to the company concerning the debt on the employer. He said that the Trustees had decided not to set the date for the calculation of the debt at 31 January 2001 nor did they feel able to specify a date at that time. Pre-Met wrote to Mr Judson asking why it was taking so long to evaluate the debt on the employer. The Scheme Actuary subsequently responded to Mr Miles saying that, following a change to legislation from 19 March 2002, the method for calculating the debt had changed; he set out his estimate on a gilt-matching MFR basis (deficit £362,000) and on the post-March 2002 basis for solvent employers (deficit £498,000).

85. At their meeting on 29 May 2002, the Trustees resolved that their January 2001 resolution should be revoked in light of the absence of any actuarial advice prior to the decision. The Trustees were advised, by Baker & McKenzie, that the legislation allowed them to set the date for the debt when they felt it was appropriate, subject to there being no insolvency event in respect of the employer. The Scheme Actuary advised that it was unlikely that, at the date the Scheme commenced winding up, there had been a debt. This had been confirmed by the actuarial valuation, which showed that the Scheme was in excess of 100% funded on the MFR basis. The Scheme Actuary advised that, due to movements in the markets, there was likely to be a debt if the calculations were performed at the current date. He recommended that the Trustees ascertain the current position. He was requested to undertake an approximate MFR valuation.

86. The minutes of the Trustees’ meeting of 29 May 2002 contain a note which read:

“What would happen if, in the absence of a cross-company guarantee, the Company (Pre-Met) no longer existed?

It was NOTED that, unless a cross-company guarantee existed, if Pre-Met did not exist there could be no call on Perma Industries for the debt.

Concern was expressed that a company could transfer assets and staff to another company in an effort to distance itself from any debt. [Baker & McKenzie] stated that [they] felt that this could be construed as a device to avoid paying a debt and in such circumstances, a report to OPRA would probably be appropriate.”

87. Mr Miles subsequently notified the Trustees, in a letter dated 16 May 2003, that no cross-company guarantees existed.

88. Perma Industries requested a meeting with the Trustees to discuss the debt. Such a meeting took place on 18 July 2002 and was attended by the Trustees and Mercers. The minutes of the meeting include:
“TRUSTEES EXPENSES £200,000 (ESTIMATED)

(Roger Miles) The charge (as above) seems exorbitant and questions the Trustees acceptance of these charges from Mercers. As the cost will be included in the Debt on the Employer they (the Employer) have the right to change administrators. The Company have requested a breakdown of charges.

(C Renham) The Trustees note the above comments., but will have to wait for Mercer’s response.

(Roger Miles) The Trustees duties are to the COMPANY and to the MEMBERS.”

“ANY OTHER BUSINESS
Roger Miles.

The Chairman of the Perma Group is concerned with the situation of a potential debt with 3% erosion. Pre-Met are not in a position to support a debt of this magnitude, unless the Trustees compromise with the company regarding debt on employer, the company will be placed in receivership.

The Compromise

The Trustees do not have to serve the debt on the employer on a gilt matched basis – a base on equity match basis would lower or eliminate the debt.

Due to the subject of date and timing and in the company’s opinion the unprofessional course the wind up has taken the company feel the Trustees should listen to the Company.”

89. Mr Burrows has suggested that these comments amount to a clear attempt to put pressure on the Trustees to agree a compromise.  Solicitors acting for Pre-Met refuted this suggestion. They stated that the reference to the Trustees’ duties being to the Company and the Members was made in the context of the costs and the comment concerning placing the Company in receivership merely pointed out to the Trustees that this would be the consequence of pursuing recovery of the debt to the fullest degree.

90. At their meeting on 25 October 2002, the Trustees discussed the debt. It was noted that the Company might be willing to allow forensic accountants to review its financial standing. The Trustees noted that, should the Company be shown to be unable to pay the debt, it might be necessary to negotiate a compromise. Mr Miles said that the Company could not afford to restore the Scheme to 100% of MFR funding.

91. The Trustees wrote to Perma Industries on 13 December 2002 confirming their agreement, in principle, to consider the financial circumstances of the Company. They said that they were not yet in a position to determine the size of the debt and that they ‘would welcome’ the appointment of auditors to review the Company’s books to establish its financial status.

92. At the Trustees’ meeting on 9 January 2003, Mr Miles said that the appointment of independent auditors would impose an unnecessary cost on the Company, when the Company’s audited accounts already showed that it could not afford to pay the debt. Following further discussion, Mr Haynes said that it was in the interests of the members for the Company to pay as much into the Scheme as possible. He proposed writing to the Company setting out a number of options and asking it to agree to an independent audit.

93. The Trustees wrote to Pre-Met on 23 January 2003 and said that, having taken advice, they had concluded that there were two options open to them; to instigate legal action against Mercers, on the grounds that they had been negligent in implementing agreed changes to the Scheme’s investments, and to negotiate a settlement with the Company. With regard to the second option, the Trustees commented that such a settlement would be in keeping with the Company’s ability to pay and recognise the implications for the whole of the workforce if the Company was forced to pay a debt it could not afford. The Trustees suggested that the most likely outcome was a combination of both options . They concluded their letter,

“The trustees do not wish to take actions that would directly lead to the insolvency of the Company, however they have a duty to secure the maximum amount of funding possible and would like the Company to submit to an independent forensic audit and depending on the results, then negotiate a settlement. The trustees have an expectation that the forensic audit would be via an independent group of auditors that would be agreed upon by the trustees, their advisers and the Company prior to the commencement of the audit and that the funding of the audit would be met by the Company. Please confirm your agreement.

This statement of the trustees’ position represents our current thinking. It is not a guarantee of any course of action and it does not preclude any actions that the trustees may feel appropriate in the future.”

94. Mr Burrows has suggested that the reference to the ‘whole of the workforce’ should have been irrelevant because there were less than ten members employed by the Company.

95. In June 2003, Checkley Fisher reported that the debt was £1.34 million and that the Scheme’s assets were sufficient to secure 100% of pensioners’ benefits and deferred members’ protected rights but only 46% of deferred members’ non-protected rights.

96. At the Trustees’ meeting on 22 April 2004, Checkley Fisher stated that the debt on the employer was approximately £1.75 million. The Trustees decided to calculate the debt as at 31 December 2003. They were advised, by Baker & McKenzie, that Checkley Fisher should refrain from signing the GN19 certificate (which would trigger the obligation for Pre-Met to pay the debt) in order to avoid inadvertently placing Pre-Met into insolvency. Baker & McKenzie advised that the Trustees could investigate a compromise agreement with Pre-Met rather than serving the full debt.

97. On 13 August 2004, the Trustees instructed a firm of independent accountants (Chantrey Vellacott DFK) to review Pre-Met’s financial position.

98. The Trustees met on 13 January 2005. The meeting was attended by Checkley Fisher, Chantry Vellacott and Baker & McKenzie. Baker & McKenzie advised the Trustees that the Scheme would not be eligible to be transferred to the Pension Protection Fund or qualify for the Financial Assistance Scheme. The Trustees discussed whether Mr Haynes had a conflict of interest and decided that it would be appropriate for him to continue to attend. He agreed to inform the other Trustees and leave the meeting if he felt that a conflict of interest had arisen. Mr Haynes then provided some background to Pre-Met’s financial position and explained that it had obtained a loan of £800,000 from its parent company. He explained that the parent company had decided to waive this loan should Pre-Met enter liquidation, subject to the Trustees providing certain assurances that no further recovery would be sought. Chantry Vellacott provided a report on Pre-Met’s financial position. It was noted that there was no realistic prospect of Pre-Met making a meaningful contribution to the Scheme for a number of years.

99. The Trustees considered whether the Scheme was likely to receive more in the event that Pre-Met went into liquidation and received advice from Chantry Vellacott. They decided that there was no other way to recover any significant funds for the Scheme other than to serve the statutory debt with the consequence that this would trigger the liquidation.

100. On 1 February 2005, the Trustees lodged a claim for £2.08 million with the Company. Pre-Met was put into administration on 28 February 2005.

101. The Trustees say they have continued to pursue a claim against Pre-Met and have received a dividend of £454,004 in the liquidation; this represents approximately 20% of the original claim.

102. Osborne Clarke issued an announcement to members in March 2007 explaining (inter alia):

· The payment of £454,000 had been received from the liquidators;

· A settlement had been reached with Mercers and £760,000 had been paid into the Scheme, including their costs;
· Winding up could not be completed until the cases with the Ombudsman had been decided;

· Good progress had been made on verifying Guaranteed Minimum Pensions with HMRC and this was almost complete;

· They were reviewing annuity options with a view to securing members’ benefits and these would now be higher as a result of funds received;

· The Scheme had been accepted as a qualifying scheme in the Financial Assistance Scheme

CONCLUSIONS

Protecting the Scheme’s Assets

103. Mr Burrows and Mr Bevan have suggested that the Trustees should have met to discuss the Scheme’s investment strategy before the date when intention to cease making contributions was reached. The period between that intention being announced and its proposed effective date might have been of significance if the Trustees had been able or intended to seek further funding from Pre-Met in the form of additional contributions. But it is doubtful whether the Scheme Rules provided for the Trustees to seek further contribution from Pre-Met over and above the amounts agreed in the Schedule of Contributions. It is, in any event, an academic point since the evidence suggests that Pre-Met was not in a position to provide any further funding at that time.
104. With regard to the transfer of the Scheme’s assets into gilts, I am not persuaded that the Trustees actually instructed Mercers to effect such a transfer in January 2001. They had, according to the minutes of the meeting, been advised that this would be an appropriate strategy, but their decision fell short of agreeing to accept that advice. It is clear that they were made aware that there were other steps to be taken before the transfer could take place. Mr Burrows’ suggested timetable of deciding and commencing the transfer by October 2000 is, I feel, overly optimistic.
105. Much of the interim work was to be undertaken by Mercers and/or MIC. Mercers did not proceed with any degree of urgency. I acknowledge the Trustees’ assertion that they are lay trustees and relied on their advisers and that they did not have the experience to know whether the delay was abnormal in the circumstances. However, they did have a responsibility to the Scheme members to keep on top of the situation. If they were unsure of the procedure, it was open to them to seek advice from Mercers and/or Baker & McKenzie.

106. I have no reason to doubt Mrs Duke’s recollection that she spoke to Mercers on a number of occasions. Mr Judson does not share her recollection of the nature of their conversations. He acknowledges that they spoke but points out that there were other reasons for them to be in contact. I do not think it would be safe to draw a conclusion based on the undocumented recollections of a single person. Nor do I see a second- hand report of a conversation given some four years afterwards as constituting corroboration.
107. Mercers did not have a responsibility to the Scheme members to ‘safeguard the assets’ in the way suggested. That obligation rested with the Trustees. Responsibility of this kind would go some considerable way beyond that usually undertaken by a scheme’s administrators.
108. Mr Burrows and Mr Bevan have suggested that Mercers did not act with due diligence once they had been instructed to transfer the Scheme’s assets. This assertion is based upon the premise that such an instruction had been given in January 2001 but I have found there was no such instruction. Once the Trustees had signed the appropriate papers, the transfer was actioned within an appropriate timeframe. The delay was in reaching the point at which the Trustees could sign the necessary papers. 

109. The Trustees and Mercers have reached a settlement on the basis that they each share responsibility for the fact that it took nearly a year to reach the point at which the transfer could go ahead. That seems to me to be a fair arrangement, needing no further direction from me. It has been suggested that the Trustees and Mercers should be required to compensate the Scheme to the level of its April 2000 funding position. However, the question of delay only arose in respect of a period from 2001 and I see no reason why any compensation should be calculated by reference to any earlier period.
110. No payment is required from the Trustees.  They can rely on the protection of Clause 17 (see Appendix 1) since the maladministration I have identified cannot realistically be described as “wilful default”.  Thus, the redress provided by Mercers will not fully recompense the Scheme for more than half of the loss incurred as a result of the delay.  It would not be appropriate to look to Mercers to take more than a shared responsibility in the circumstances. Nor do I believe that Mercers can be penalised for defending their position. It might have been desirable for a settlement to have been reached at an earlier date but these negotiations have not delayed the winding up procedure (I see that the GMPs have yet to be fully reconciled). It would not therefore be appropriate for any further losses incurred over the period of winding up to be attributed to the time taken to reach a settlement. I note that the sum received from Mercers included provision for Osborne Clarke’s legal costs.
111. It is unfortunate that Pre-Met went into liquidation following the decision by the Trustees to require payment of the debt. However, the debt would have been substantial even if there had been no delay in transferring the assets. I am not persuaded that the Company’s liquidation could have been avoided had the Trustees or Mercers come to a settlement any sooner than they did. I do not, therefore, agree with Mr Bevan that his future loss of earnings should form part of any calculation of compensation.
The Debt on the Employer

112. Mr Burrows is concerned that Pre-Met attempted to distance themselves from the Scheme. I am not persuaded that the comments made in the July 2002 meeting amount to anything more than a statement of fact and/or concern, a statement that was borne out when the Trustees served the debt on Pre-Met and triggered its liquidation. The evidence does not support Mr Burrows’ assertion that the Company attempted to distance itself from any liability. It follows that the Trustees cannot be criticised for not taking any action to report this, such as might have been required of them under Section 48 of the Pensions Act 1995 (see Appendix 1, paragraph 10).

113. Mr Burrows has suggested that Pre-Met should have made some additional provision to overcome any shortfall in the Scheme’s funds. At the time Pre-Met gave notice to cease contributing to the Scheme, the evidence indicates that the Scheme was fully funded on the MFR basis, i.e. the basis upon which a debt on an employer is calculated, although the basis for such a calculation later changed. It seems unlikely, however, that the company had the resources to make such additional provision.

114. With regard to the concern that those Trustees who were also officers of the Company were not acting in the interests of the members, it is clear that the Trustees as a whole considered whether there was such a conflict of interest. It does not follow that a trustee who holds a company position should be required to step down in these circumstances. Mr Haynes offered to leave the meeting should a conflict of interest arise and this was the appropriate way to deal with the situation. 
DAVID LAVERICK

Pensions Ombudsman

8 June 2007

APPENDIX 1

Trust Deed and Rules

115. Clause 18 of the 2nd definitive deed provides,

“THE Principal Employer may at any time (but without prejudice to its liability for the payment of any contributions which shall have become payable) terminate its liability and (where applicable) that of its Employees to contribute to the Fund by notice in writing to the Trustees.”

116. Clause 20 provides,

“THE Plan shall be determined in accordance with Clause 21 hereof upon the happening of any one of the following events:-

(i) the termination by the Principal Employer of its liability … to contribute to the Fund (unless the Trustees shall resolve that the determination of the Plan shall be deferred); …”

117. Clause 17 provides,

“NO Trustee shall be responsible, chargeable or liable in any manner whatsoever for or in respect of any loss of or any depreciation in or default upon any of the investments, securities, stocks or policies in or upon which the moneys and assets of the Fund or any part thereof may at any time be invested pursuant to the provisions hereof or for any delay which may occur from whatever cause in the investment of any moneys belonging thereto or for the safety of any securities or documents of title deposited by the Trustees for safe custody or for the exercise of any discretionary power vested in the Trustees by this Deed or by the Rules (including any act or omission by any agent, staff or delegate appointed by the Trustees) or by reason of any other matter or thing except wilful default on the part of the trustee who is sought to be made liable.”

118. Clause SD3 of the amending deed provides,

“Termination of the Scheme

On the termination of the Scheme, the Trustees shall resolve either to wind up the Scheme in accordance with the provisions of Clause SD4 of this deed or to continue the Scheme as either a closed scheme (ie a scheme not admitting new members) or a frozen scheme (ie a scheme under which all contributions have ceased and no further benefits accrue to Scheme members), but with the Fund (as defined in sub-clause 4.2 of Clause SD4 of this deed (Winding up the Scheme) continuing to be held by the Trustees to be applied in accordance with the provisions of the Second Definitive Deed and Rules and Clause SD5, as amended from time to time.”

119. Clause SD4 provides,

“Winding up the Scheme

Initial actions, payments and reserves

4.1 Within one month of starting to wind up the Scheme, the Trustees shall notify in writing each Scheme member and other person to whom information is required to be given under the Disclosure Regulations … that the trustees have started to wind up the Scheme. Within three months of applying the assets of the Fund … the trustees shall notify in writing to each Scheme member and other person benefiting under the Scheme:

4.1.1 of the amount of benefits payable to the Scheme member or other person concerned under the Scheme and, if the amounts payable are paid periodically, the provisions (if any) under which the amounts may be altered;

4.1.2 whether the benefits payable are reduced because of insufficient Scheme resources, and if so by how much; and

4.1.3 who will be liable to pay the benefits in future.

4.2 As soon as practicable after the date of termination, the Trustees shall realise the investments, cash and other assets for the time being held by or on behalf of the Trustees for the purpose of, or the setting aside of, monies to meet all the costs, charges and expenses (including tax and other incidentals), the Fund shall be applied by the Trustees to satisfy and secure the obligations in the order set out in the sub-clauses 4.3, 4.4 and 4.5 of this Clause SD4.”

Under the Rules adopted by the 1988 Definitive Deed, Rule 3(b) provided,

“Contributions of Employer
(i) Each Employer shall from time to time make such contributions to the Fund as shall be determined by the Actuary to be required together with the contributions (if any) of the Members … to enable the Trustees to provide the benefits of the Plan.

(ii) The said contributions shall be calculated on a basis agreed between the Trustees and the Principal Employer and shall be subject to review at intervals of not more than five years.”

120. Rule 3(b)(ii) was amended by the July 1992 Deed so that the basis of calculation for the Employer’s contributions should be determined by the Trustees alone.

121. Under the provisions of the July 2000 Deed, the Trustees agreed to comply with Section 58 of the Pensions Act 1995. Section 58 requires the Trustees to prepare, maintain and, from time to time, revise a schedule of contributions. The matters shown in the schedule must be previously agreed by the trustees and the employer. If no such agreement is possible, the schedule must show the rates of contributions determined by the trustees as adequate for the purpose of meeting the minimum funding requirement throughout the period covered by the schedule. A schedule of contributions must be certified by the scheme actuary.

The Trustee Act 1925

122. Section 61 provides,

“61  Power to relieve trustee from personal liability. 

If it appears to the court that a trustee, whether appointed by the court or otherwise, is or may be personally liable for any breach of trust, whether the transaction alleged to be a breach of trust occurred before or after the commencement of this Act, but has acted honestly and reasonably, and ought fairly to be excused for the breach of trust and for omitting to obtain the directions of the court in the matter in which he committed such breach, then the court may relieve him either wholly or partly from personal liability for the same.”

The Pensions Act 1995

123. Section 48 of the Pensions Act 1995 covered the requirement to ‘whistle-blow’. This provided:

“(1)
If the auditor or actuary of any occupational pension scheme has reasonable cause to believe that -
(a)
any duty relevant to the administration of the scheme imposed by any enactment or rule of law on … the employer, … has not been or is not being complied with, and

(b)
the failure to comply is likely to be of material significance in the exercise by the Authority of any of their functions,

he must immediately give a written report of the matter to the Authority.
(2) …

(3) …

(4) If in the case of any occupational pension scheme any professional adviser (other than the auditor or actuary), any trustee or manager or any person involved in the administration of the scheme has reasonable cause to believe as mentioned in paragraphs (a) and (b) of subsection (1), he may give a report of the matter to the Authority.
…”
Actuarial Valuation as at 31 January 2001

124. In January 2002, Mercer produced an actuarial report as at 31 January 2001. They reported:

124.1. The Scheme was 117% funded on the Minimum Funding Requirement (MFR) basis.

124.2. On the statutory surplus basis, the Scheme was 84% funded.

124.3. If the Scheme had discharged its liabilities on the valuation date by purchasing non-profit immediate and deferred annuities from an insurance company, it was 91% funded. Mercers noted that the pensioner members would have received 100% of their benefit entitlement, because of the priority order, but deferred members would have received, on average, 85% of their full benefit entitlement.

124.4. The then investment strategy comprised a diversified portfolio, including equities and gilts, held in managed funds operated by Legal & General.

125. In the section on investment strategy, Mercers commented that, as the Scheme’s liabilities were to be secured through the purchase of annuity policies, the best match for annuity prices was a mix of long-dated gilts, corporate bonds and index-linked gilts. They said:

“The advantage of adopting a matched strategy is that the investment risk is minimised. Whilst the assets are insufficient to secure benefits in full on buy-out, any unmatched investment strategy could lead to further deterioration in the benefits available to members in lower priority classes. However, it should also be noted that a matched strategy would tend to lock into the current level of under-funding, as it also militates against any beneficial investment out-performance.”

126. Mercers calculated that, had the Trustees adopted a gilt matching strategy, the Scheme would have been 114% funded on the MFR basis. They went on to say:

“As investments have been held in equities since the valuation date, the fall in equity prices since the valuation date will have reduced the funding level on the gilt matching MFR basis (and possibly on the normal  MFR basis). If the funding level falls below 100%, then a debt on the employer can be certified.

It is essential that the Trustees review their investment strategy to meet the new circumstances of the Scheme since commencing to wind up.”

APPENDIX 2

Mr Renham’s Statement

127. In his statement, Mr Renham recalls,

“I am a former trustee of the [Scheme]. I was appointed a trustee as a result of my position as finance director of the original principal employer of the Scheme, Plasmec plc …

I joined Plasmec plc in 1986 and was appointed as a trustee in or around this time …

I recall that on 18 July 2000, the Company wrote to the trustees to inform us that it was giving notice that all contributions … would cease on 31 October 2000. This had the effect of closing the Scheme …

The trustees met again on 31 January 2001. This meeting was attended by [Mercers] and also by [MIC]. During this meeting, the trustees considered a letter from … Baker & McKenzie, on the effect of the closure of the Scheme and also advice received from Mercer.

On the basis of this advice, the trustees determined to wind up the Scheme with immediate effect …

Also at this meeting, I recall that the trustees received advice from [MIC] on the suitability of the investment strategy following the closure of the Scheme. [Mr Renham then quotes from the minutes]

The minutes then set out the expected cost and the procedure for transferring the assets into gilts and conclude:

“It was AGREED that MIC would liaise with the Scheme Actuary and then write to the Trustees.”

I think that this sentence makes clear the trustees’ instructions to [MIC]. [They were] instructed to take the steps necessary to transfer the assets, and would involve the trustees where required. It was my understanding that Mercer would then go ahead and transfer the assets as instructed.

…

I also recall receiving a letter from [Mercers] on 21 August 2001. I was very surprised to receive this letter because it appeared that Mercer had still not progressed the transfer of the investments. I thought it was a strange letter to write and, reading it now, I do not fully understand it … [Mr Renham then quotes from the letter]

The letter makes clear that Mercer had not transferred the Scheme investments and implies that the trustees had not given instructions to Mercer. This was not the case. I am now of the impression that this is a face saving letter sent by Mercer to cover for the fact that they had not taken any action to implement the trustees’ instructions since the meeting in January.

I cannot recall specifically chasing Mercer at the time, although I was retired and think that I might have asked Pauline Duke, who still worked for the Company, to do this on my behalf …”

128. Mr Renham then explains that he was very ill during this period and continues,

“… As a result, my thoughts were not fully focused on the Scheme at this time, although I remain of the view that we believed we had taken all necessary steps at the meeting in January.

It was not until 4 January 2002 that I received a letter from [MIC] which set out [their] advice and which enclosed information from the Scheme actuary and the paperwork required to switch the assets into Gilts. I signed this and forwarded it to Pauline, on 10 January 2002. In my covering letter I referred to the delay in implementing the trustees’ decision and to a delay in getting the net asset statement produced. I understand that this was due to a delay in the Scheme actuary (also an employee of Mercer) producing this information …

I am of the opinion that the trustees did all that they were required to do in January 2001 when providing instructions to Mercer. Mercer was the appointed professional adviser to the Scheme and was being paid to carry out its duties. It should not have taken over a year to implement these instructions and the documents show that there were very significant delays on Mercer’s part in carrying out these instructions.”

Mrs Duke’s Statement

129. In her statement, Mrs Duke says,

“I am a trustee of the [Scheme]. I was appointed a trustee as a result of my position as an accounts supervisor of [Pre-Met] …

I joined [Pre-Met] in 1980 and was appointed a trustee in 1998 …

I recall that on 18 July 2000, the Company wrote to the trustees to inform us that it was giving notice that all contributions … would cease on 31 October 2000. This had the effect of closing the Scheme …

The trustees met again on 31 January 2001. This meeting was attended by [Mercers] and also by [MIC]. During this meeting, the trustees considered a letter from … Baker & McKenzie, on the effect of the closure of the Scheme and also advice received from Mercer.

On the basis of this advice, the trustees determined to wind up the Scheme with immediate effect …

Also at this meeting, I recall that the trustees received advice from [MIC] on the suitability of the investment strategy following the closure of the Scheme. [Mr Renham then quotes from the minutes]

The minutes then set out the expected cost and the procedure for transferring the assets into gilts and conclude:

“It was AGREED that MIC would liaise with the Scheme Actuary and then write to the Trustees.”

I think that this sentence makes clear the trustees’ instructions to [MIC]. We had decided at the meeting that the best and safest way forward was to transfer the funds of the Scheme into gilts and [MIC] was instructed to take the steps necessary to transfer the assets, and would involve the trustees where required. It was my understanding that Mercer would then go ahead and transfer the assets as instructed.

…

I also recall receiving a letter from [Mercers] dated 21 August 2001. It appeared that the investments had not yet been transferred and it was unclear how far Mercer had progressed with the instruction to transfer to gilts. I was also being asked around this time for updates on the transfer by members of the Scheme still employed at the Company.

I recall that I tried to call [Mercers] on a number of occasions for further information on the progress of the transfer and particularly following [their] letter dated 21 August 2001 when it was becoming clear that the transfer had not taken place. I definitely contacted [Mercers] at least twice to obtain answers for the member’s specific queries. In response to my requests, I recall that [Mercers] informed me that the transfer may take up to a year to complete. A copy of a letter dated 18 August 2005 from Mr Reeves, a member of the Scheme, supporting my recollection is attached to this statement.

…

I am of the opinion that the trustees did all that they were required to do in January 2001 when providing instructions to Mercer. Mercer was the appointed professional adviser to the Scheme and was being paid to carry out its duties. It should not have taken over a year to implement these instructions and the documents show that there were very significant delays on Mercer’s part in carrying out these instructions.”

Mr Reeves’ Letter

130. In a letter addressed to Mrs Duke, dated 18 August 2005, a Mr Reeves states,

“Further to our telephone conversation regarding the above scheme.

I can confirm that in early 2001 I asked you for information regarding our pension. You stated that the fund was in the process of being moved into Gilt’s.

Some time later, I think 5 or 6 months I asked why we had still not heard any more detail, you told my self [and two others] that it was not a simple matter and that the Actuary had to calculate all the figures. You said you would ask [Mercers] for an update.

Later the same day you informed us that you phoned [Mercers] and [they] confirmed to you that it may take up to a year before the change would be completed.

I hope this helps clarify the situation.”

131. Mr Reeves was a design engineer who worked in ‘the tool room’ for Pre-Met.

� Previously provided by Mercer Investment Consulting
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